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1. Name of Property

historic name

other names/site Quaker Hill Historic District

2. Location

street & number See continuation sheet 2:1 

city or town Waterford

state Connecticut code CT county New London

_______. not for publication N/A

vicinity N/A 

code Oil zip code 06375

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, I hereby certify that this X 
nomination _ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National 
Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the 
property X meets _ does not meet the National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant _ 
nationally __ statewide X locally _; (_ See^ontinuation sheet for additional comments.)-^ ^

Marrh 1Q, 700?
of certifying official
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Federal agency and bureau
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comments.)
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Location:

Caroline Court: 3, 5. 

Northwood Road: 3. 

Old Colchester Road: Quaker Hill Green, 2, 11, 17.

Old Norwich Road : 91,93,95,97, 101, 113, 115 (lot 156/133), 116, 117, 119, 120, 132, 133, 135, 138, 140, 142,144, 
144R, 145, 149, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157, 158, 161, 163, 165, 166, 167, 169, 171, 173, 174, 175, 176, 177, 181, 
184, 185, 188, 193, 194, 196, 197 (lot 178/046), 198, 199, 201, 205, 209.

Richard's Grove Road: 2.

Rosemary Lane: 6, 8, 9 (pond lot 68/041), 10, 12, 15.



Quaker Hill Historic District
Name of Property

New London, CT
County and State

4. National Park Service Certification

I, h/reby certify that this property is: 
entered hi the National Register.
See continuation sheet, 

determined eligible for the National Register
See continuation sheet, 

determined not eligible for the
National Register
removed from the National Register.
other, (explain):_________

Date

5. Classification

Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) 
count.)

X private
X public-local 

_ public-State 
_ public-Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box)

_ building(s) 
X_district 
_ site 
_ structure 
_ object

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the

Contributing 
92

92

Noncontributing
16____, buildings
1____ sites 

______ structures 
________ objects

17 Total

Name of related multiple property listing

(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)
N/A _ ._____________________.

Number of contributing resources previously 
listed in the National Register 

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) 
DOMESTIC/single dwelling/secondary structure 
GOVERNMENT/fire station____________
RELIGION/religious facility_______________
EDUCATION/schopl _ _________

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) 
DOMESTIC/single dwelling/secondary structure 
GOVERNMENT/post office/fire station_____.
RELIGION/religious facility___________.
EDUCATION/school

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)
20TH CENTURY REVIVALS/Colonial Revival .
COLONIAL/Postmedieval English_______.
LATE VICTORIAN/Queen Anne
MID-19TH CENTURY/Greek Revival/Gothic Revival

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) 
foundation stone______________
walls __weatherboard

roof 
other

asphalt shingle
brick

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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The Quaker Hill Historic District is located on the west side of the Thames River in the northern part of the Town of 
Waterford. A linear residential district more than a mile in length, it runs north-south along the Old Norwich Road to 
encompass the village of Quaker Hill, which is centered around the intersection with Old Colchester Road and the 
western end of Smith Cove, the outlet for Hunt's Brook (see district map). The district also includes several side streets, 
such as Caroline Court and Rosemary Lane, and is bounded on the east for part of its length by Mohegan Avenue 
Parkway (State Route 32), which connects to Interstate 395 to the south.

The district's 109 resources consist primarily of houses and their associated outbuildings, as a well as a former tavern, a 
church, and three twentieth-century municipal buildings. Ranging in age from 1782 to the 1950, the majority (84 
percent) of the resources contribute to the architectural and/or historical significance of the district. Only two historic 
houses are so altered that they are considered non-contributing.

Construction began in the district after the Revolution with several Colonials and Cape-style houses. The Christopher 
Green House of 1794, the only stone building in the district, has random ashlar walls set off by raised cut-stone quoining 
in the Georgian manner (Inventory # 47; Photograph #1). The pedimented entrance portico that now enhances its five- 
bay fa9ade, the dormers (or at least the center section), and the side porch with columns all date from the Colonial 
Revival period. The Benjamin Green House up the street is a four-bay Colonial with a center chimney (Inventory #88; 
Photograph #2). The fenestration on the right side of the fa9ade has been rearranged.

The John Rogers House, which may date from 1782, is one of several Cape-style houses built in the district up through 
1815 (Inventory #20). Because of its sloping site on the bank of Smith Cove, it has a full-height exposed brick 
foundation on the water side. In all other respects it resembles its counterparts in the district, the John Burch House 
(Inventory #14; Photograph #3) and the Daniel Rogers House (Inventory # 91).l They all have a five-bay fa9ade, with 
paired windows on either side of a central doorway. Instead of the more typical high plate found in Capes of this period, 
the fa9ade windows are tucked up under the eaves. The side elevations display two full-size windows at the attic level; 
but none of these Capes have the usual fixed windows under the eaves that are associated with this style.

Although there was a lull in domestic construction up through 1860, this period is represented by two public 
site. The present flush-boarded facade of the Baptist Church was once the rear elevation (Inventory #37; buildings, the 
Red Lion Tavern and the Quaker Hill Baptist Church. The tavern, which also has a four-bay fa9ade, clapboard sheathing, 
and six-over-six window sash, stands overlooking the crossroads and the present green (Inventory #6; Photograph #4). 
Its rubblestone foundation is exposed on the facade due to the sloping Photograph #5). In the 1980s the church was 
rotated 180 degrees and moved forward on its elevated site to accommodate the construction of a parish hall addition at 
the rear. The double doors for the original main entrance are gone, but their frame with a heavy molded cornice, frieze, 
and pilasters was reinstalled on the present fa9ade. Presumably the tower was relocated at the same time, and the upper 
stage with the open belfry with columns shown in historic photographs was removed.

Several vernacular cottages were built just prior to the Civil War. The well-preserved cross-gable example at 145 Old 
Norwich Road displays two entrances with narrow doorhoods supported by brackets in the Italianate manner (Inventory 
#39; Photograph #6). Characteristically for the period, the cottage has a paired front gable window, a feature also found

1 Only one of the three houses could be photographed. The view of the vacant John Rogers House is obscured by shrubbery and 
objects in the front yard; the fa?ade of Daniel Rogers House is hidden by mature evergreens.
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on the James Moore House at the southern end of the district (Inventory #14; Photograph #7). There the doorway and 
the first-floor windows have small bracketed pent roof hoods, and there are exposed rafter tails and outriggers under the 
eaves.

More elaborate versions of these houses employing Gothic Revival motifs were built about 1870. The house at 199 Old 
Norwich Road displays peaked windows in the front and wall dormer gables, which have molded hoods, and similar 
hoods are found over the rest of the windows (Inventory # 95; Photograph #8). The doorway with its sidelights and 
transom is more Greek Revival in style. Another house near the center of the district approaches the Carpenter Gothic in 
the detailing of its eave and cornice brackets and scroll-sawn bargeboards (Inventory #32; Photograph #8). The 
wraparound veranda has unusual slim columns with necking.

Porches are also featured on the several Queen Annes built later in the century. The first manifestation of this popular 
style in the district was limited to verandas embellished with turned posts and spindle courses (Inventory #s 56, 62; 
Photographs #s 10, 11). While the style persisted into the twentieth century with a cross-gable version at the head of the 
district (Inventory #101; Photograph #12), the Colonial Revival influence also is found in the porches of two houses built 
after World War I (Inventory #s 10, 71; Photograph #s 13, 14). The one at 91 Old Norwich Road also has the cut-away 
corners on the side bay that are typical Queen Anne, while the other example at 173 Old Norwich Road approaches what 
is sometimes called the "Free Classic," a style that combines Classical and Colonial motifs with Queen Anne massing.

The Free Classic is exemplified by the Alexander and Glassbrenner houses which face each other across upper Old 
Norwich Road (Inventory #s 83, 85; Photograph #s 15, 16). Both feature truncated hip roofs with a balustrades and 
Colonial Revival porches. It is likely that before the second-story enclosure over the porch was added to the Alexander 
House, they were even more similar in appearance. Although slightly different in their treatments, both have facade 
bays, with a full pediment on the Alexander House, and a recessed gable window on the Glassbrenner House in the 
Shingle-style mode.

A variety of other styles were built in this period. One of the four houses that were designed or remodeled in the Dutch 
Colonial Revival style is located on the edge of Smith Cove (Inventory #22; Photograph #17). It has a pronounced flare 
to the lower slope of its gambrel roof, and, like other houses in this location, has a high basement at the rear because of 
sloping shore. Another house erected in 1836 was remodeled in this style about 1915 (Inventory #24; Photograph #18). 
The American Four-Square, a popular suburban style, is represented in the district by just two contributing examples. 
The battered (slanted) posts supporting the front porch roof on the one at 169 Old Norwich Road are an unusual feature, 
one more often associated with the Bungalow style (Inventory #67; Photograph #19).

The Craftsman influence is displayed on several early twentieth-century houses in the district. It is evident in the 
exposed stone work at 154 Old Norwich Road (Inventory #48; Photograph #20) and the braced overhangs of the 
Bungalow at 140 Old Norwich Road (Inventory #34; Photograph #21). It is expressed as a full-blown style in the 
stuccoed house at the corner of Northwood Road, which was built shortly after World War I (Inventory #4; Photograph #
22).

The large brick Quaker Hill School was also erected in this period (Inventory #19; Photograph #23). Designed in a 
simplified Colonial Revival style with a recessed entrance flanked by two-story pilasters and square brick columns, it
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overlooks Smith Cove from its hill-top site. Other details include a round-arched doorway with a key block, style and 
materials were selected for the 1927 Quaker Hill Firehouse on Old Colchester Road, which displays the same parapeted 
fa9ade often employed in buildings of this type (Inventory #9).

The World War II era is represented by a Tudor Revival at the foot of the district (Inventory #103; Photograph #24) and a 
cluster of Ranch-style houses in a subdivision on Rosemary Lane begun right after the war and completed in the 1950s 
(Inventory #s 104, 105, 106, 108, 109). According to the architectural survey of 1997, the design of the subdivision was 
influenced by the International style. Of the three built on Old Norwich Road at the entrance to Rosemary Lane, the two 
unaltered examples present blank walls to the street, with only a narrow ribbon of windows under the overhanging eaves 
of low pitched hipped roofs (Inventory #75; Photograph #25). Typically, however, the other elevations display large 
areas of glass and brick (Inventory #75; Photograph #26).

Inv. # Address

Inventory of Contributing and Non-Contributing Resources

Historic Name/Style/Date__________________________ C/NC Ph. #

CAROLINE COURT
1. 3 Cape, 1925
2. 5 Colonial Revival, c. 1940
3. 5 garage, c. 1940

NORTHWOOD ROAD
4. 3 Craftsman, c. 1919
5. 3 garage, c. 1940

OLD COLCHESTER ROAD
6. 2 RED LION TAVERN, Colonial, 1824
7. - Quaker Hill Green, c. 1996
8. 11 19th-century vernacular with modern storefront, c. 1880
9. 17 Quaker Hill Firehouse, 1927

	OLD NORWICH ROAD
10. 91
11. 91
12. 93
13. 93
14. 95
15. 97
16. 101
17. 101
18. 113

	115
19. 116
20. 117
21. 117
22. 119

Queen Anne/Colonial Revival, c. 1910
garage, c. 1920
ESTHER BLUM HOUSE, Four-Square, c. 1920
garage, c. 1934
JOHN BURCH HOUSE, Cape, c. 1800
JAMES MOORE HOUSE, Gothic Revival cottage, c. 1860
residence, 1956
garage, c. 1956
vernacular cottage, 1937
156/123, vacant lot
QUAKER HILL SCHOOL, Colonial Revival, 1917
JOHN & THOMAS ROGERS HOUSE, Cape, 1782
garage/shed, c. 1900
Dutch Colonial Revival, c. 1916

C 
NC
NC 
C

C
c 
c 
c 
c 
c
NC 
NC 
C

c 
c 
c 
c

22

14

23

17
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garage, c. 1996
Dutch Colonial Revival, 1836/c. 1915
Post Office, c. 1961
Quaker Hill Pump Station, 1988
19th-century vernacular, 1876
garage, c. 1920
shed, c. 1900
ROGERS HOUSE, Cape, c. 1800/1876
garage, c. 1920
Carpenter Gothic, c. 1875
garage/shop, c. 1930
Craftsman Bungalow, 1926
garage, c. 1930
19th-century vernacular, 1866
QUAKER HILL BAPTIST CHURCH, Greek Revival, 1835
Colonial Revival, c. 1920 (former blacksmith shop)
vernacular Italianate, c. 1870
garage, c. 1920
Dutch Colonial Revival cottage, 1938
garage, c. 1940
Craftsman, c. 1930
garage, c. 1930
Cape, 1952
garage, 1952
CHRISTOPHER GREEN HOUSE, Federal 17947
Colonial Revival, c. 1920
Craftsman, c. 1910
garage, c. 1920
Cape, c. 1960
Colonial Revival, c. 1950
Ranch, c. 1950
garage, c. 1950
Cape, c. 1945
garage, c. 1945
vernacular Queen Anne, c. 1890
garage/barn, 1920
vernacular, 1929
shed, 1929
Bungalow, c. 1930
garage, c. 1930
vernacular Queen Anne, 1900
garage, c. 1950
Bungalow, c. 1930
garage, c. 1930
shed, 1983
Four-Square, 1926
garage, 1926

Section 7 Page 4

23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.

48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.
56.
57.
58.
59.
60.
61.
62.
63.
64.
65.
66.
67.
68.

119
120
132
132
133
133
133
135
135
138
138
140
140
142
144
144R
145
145
149
149
151
151
152
152
153

154
154
155
156
157
157
158
158
161
161
163
163
165
165
166
166
167
167
167
169
169

NC
C
NC
NC
C
C
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c
NC
c 
c
NC 
NC 
C

c 
c
NC 
C
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c
NC
c 
c

18

9

21

5

6

1

20

10

11
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Dutch Colonial Revival, 1912
garage, 1936
Queen Anne/Colonial Revival, 1927
garage, c. 1960
Craftsman, c. 1910
garage, c. 1930
Ranch, 1947
garage, c. 1947
Colonial Revival, c. 1930
garage, c. 1930
Ranch, c. 1945 (altered)
Ranch, c. 1945
garage/cottage, c. 1945
Colonial Revival, c. 1900/c. 1936
FRANK ALEXANDER HOUSE, Colonial Revival, 1913
carriagehouse/barn, 1913
GLASSBRENNER HOUSE, Queen Anne/
Colonial Revival, c. 1900
house, c. 1900
garage, c. 1930
BENJAMIN GREEN HOUSE, Colonial, c. 1800
barn/garage, c. 1970
barn associated with #196, c. 1880
DANIEL ROGERS HOUSE, Cape, c. 1810
shed, c. 1900
178/046, vacant lot
Cape, c. 1950
garage, c. 1940
Gothic Revival, c. 1870
garage, c. 1940
Four-Square, c. 1920 (altered 1946)
garage, c. 1946
vernacular, c. 1946
garage, c. 1946
Queen Anne/Colonial Revival, 1926
garage, 1926

RICHARD'S GROVE ROAD 
103. 2 Tudor Revival, c. 1940

ROSEMARY LANE

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

69.
70.
71.
72.
73.
74.
75.
76.
77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
83.
84.
85.

86.
87.
88.
89.
90.
91.
92.

93.
94.
95.
96.
97.
98.
99.
100.
101.
102.

171
171
173
173
174
174
175
175
176
176
177
181
181
184
185
185
188

188
188
193
193
194
196
196
197
198
198
199
199
201
201
205
205
209
209

104.
105.

106.
107.
108.
109.

6
8
9
10
10
12
15

Ranch, c. 1950
Ranch, c. 1945
6 8/041, pond lot
Ranch, c. 1950
shed, c. 1960
Ranch, 1954
Ranch, c. 1950

Section 7 Page 5

C 
C 
C
NC 
C
c 
c 
c 
c 
c
NC 
C
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c 
c
NC
c 
c 
c

c 
c 
c 
c
NC 
C
c 
c 
c 
c

c 
c

c
NC 
NC 
C

13

25

26

15

16

12

24
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Name of Property

New London, CT
County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 
for National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

_B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past.

X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield 
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.) 
Property is:
___ A owned by a religious institution or used for 

religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D a cemetery.

E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

F a commemorative property.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

ARCHITECTURE_________
SOCIAL HISTORY

Period of Significance 
1782 - c. 1950

Significant Dates
N/A

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)
N/A______________________

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder 
Unknown

G Less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)
Previous documentation on file (NFS):
____preliminary determination of individual listing
____(36 CFR 67) has been requested.
___ previously listed in the National Register
___ previously determined eligible by the National Register
___ designated a National Historic Landmark
___ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #__
___ recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #_

Primary Location of Additional Data:
X State Historic Preservation Office 
___ Other State agency 
___ Federal agency 
___ Local government 
___ University 

X Other

Name of repository: Waterford Town Hall
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Statement of Significance
Arising out a non-traditional colonial culture, the Quaker Hill Historic District illustrates how successive forces of 
modernization turned an isolated dispersed farming community of religious dissidents into a nineteenth-century 
industrial village, which finally emerged as an early twentieth-century suburb. Of particular historical importance is 
Quaker Hill's original association with the Rogerenes, a legacy kept alive by the presence of their nineteenth-century 
descendants in the district. Since discrete periods of architectural development in the district kept pace with 
improvements in transportation, all the major styles of the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries and their vernacular 
interpretations are represented. Among them are Colonial, Greek Revival, Italianate, Gothic Revival, Queen Anne and 
Colonial Revival, as well as several individual examples of the Craftsman and Ranch styles.

Historical Background and Significance
The area where Quaker Hill is located was once part of New London, founded by John Winthrop, Jr., the son of the 
famous Massachusetts Bay Puritan. The earliest documented activity in what was known as West Farms, was the haying 
of the grassy meadows along the river in 1645 in preparation for settlement. Although 700 acres had been previously set 
to John Winthrop at Millstone Point at the mouth of the Niantic River, the first division of the common land of West 
Farms began in 1651. Roads were laid out to give in-town New London farmers access to their plots and the salt marshes 
along the rivers. In 1653 Winthrop reserved for himself the water privileges along Hunts Brook (then known as Alewife 
Brook) and by 1660, he owned the ferry rights across the Niantic River. Called to be governor of the colony in 1657, 
Winthrop leased his New London oil mill to James Rogers from Rhode Island. Rogers, a baker, added a stone mill and 
bakery, and began to buy up land in West Farms set to the original patentees in Quaker Hill and Great Neck. As a 
member of the First Congregational Church of New London, Rogers paid one tenth of the entire ministerial rate because 
of the value of his land holdings. By the late 1670s, however, soon after the Rogers family rejected Congregationalism 
and became Seventh-Day Baptists, James Rogers and his son John founded a radical religious sect known as the 
Rogerenes. Largely due to the early presence of these anti-establishment dissenters and their Seventh-Day Baptist 
brethren, Quaker Hill and the town as a whole did not evolve in a traditional manner. Operating outside the religious 
establishment for most of the eighteenth century, West Farms Parish never had a Congregational church society or 
meetinghouse. In fact, when the Town of Waterford was established in 1801, town meetings were held in a Baptist 
church, in effect making this denomination the locus of civil authority, an unprecedented event prior to disestablishment 
in 1818.

Rogerenes refused to recognize the religious or civil authority of the colonial government. Since some of their theology 
was derived from the Society of Friends, Rogerenes were thought to be Quakers, hence the name of their community. 
Although more radical and subversive than either the Baptists or the Quakers of Massachusetts and Pennsylvania, 
Rogerenes had similar beliefs, particularly in their opposition to a hierarchical learned clergy, the cornerstone of 
Congregationalism. Like Seventh-Day Baptists, Rogerenes celebrated the Sabbath on Saturday. They did so in each 
other's homes, rather than in a special meetinghouse. Ostracized like the Quakers, one the few religious sects excluded 
from the Toleration Act of 1708, Rogerenes often were publicly whipped or imprisoned for acts of civil disobedience that 
threatened the good order of society. Not only did they refuse to bear arms or pay taxes, Rogerenes regularly disrupted 
Congregational services in New London in the 1700s, chopping wood on the front porch of the church or hawking 
vegetables in the aisles. It is said that John Rogers, who died from smallpox in 1721, spent a third of his life in prison.

They left few records, so little else is known about the Rogerenes of Quaker Hill. They may have lived independently 
like the Rogerenes in Quakertown across the river in Ledyard, who practiced endogamous marriage and had their own 
schoolhouse and mortgage society. Having come to terms with the town on tax matters, that Ledyard community
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endured well into the nineteenth century as a religious sect. Perhaps the Rogerenes in Waterford did not disband or 
become Baptists by the 1780s, as has been believed, but found it easier to keep their faith and political convictions in the 
more tolerant pluralism of the 1800s. It is known that they intermarried with the Green and Bolles families, and others 
who shared their beliefs, and their descendants remained in Quaker Hill.

Whether their isolation in the West Farms back country was self imposed or simply due to geography, the settlers of 
Quaker Hill were far removed from the mainstream of commerce and government centered in New London. Colonial 
Quaker Hill was a community of dispersed farmsteads. Unlike the people who lived near the Thames and Niantic 
estuaries and often engaged in shipbuilding and trade, for most of the eighteenth century Quaker Hill residents were 
subsistence farmers. Although in 1723 the Smith family had a mill on Hunt's Brook, the most reliable and efficient 
source of waterpower in West Farms, water privileges there were not fully developed until after the Revolution. While 
there are no surviving colonial farmhouses within the district, at least one was built there in 1742 by Benjamin Green 
from Warwick, Rhode Island, who bought a 120-acre parcel on the east side of Old Norwich Road. One of Green's 
daughters was imprisoned with other Rogerenes in 1766. The present house on this site was built by a Green descendant 
about 1800 (Inventory #88). The 1782 John Rogers Cape perched on the bank above Smith Cove is believed to be the 
oldest surviving house in the district (Inventory #20). His son, Thomas Rogers, who was born there in 1792, became 
renowned as a designer of steam locomotives, including the General of Civil War fame, and Union Pacific 119, the 
engine used at the ceremonial completion of the first transcontinental railroad in 1869.

The isolation of Quaker Hill ended in 1792 when the Norwich-New London Turnpike passed right through the district. 
Now known as Old Norwich Road, it followed the path of the country road laid out along the old Mohegan Trail in the 
early 1700s. The first turnpike in the state, and the second oldest in the new nation, it was only the first of a series of 
improvements in transportation that had an impact on the architectural development of the district and ultimately made 
Quaker Hill one of the two largest population centers in town.

Although Quaker Hill had been part of the Northward School District as early as 1724, there was no town-supported 
schoolhouse there until 1794 (no longer extant). In 1824 Asa Wightman built the Red Lion Tavern overlooking the 
crossroads, his second such establishment in Waterford (Inventory #6). It is said that the tavern had only four bays due 
to Wightman's Baptist belief that five would be ostentatious. In addition to the Colonial four-bay house built on the site 
of the Green family homestead already mentioned, another member of this family built a fine stone Federal nearby in 
1794 (Inventory #47). Of the several new Capes along the turnpike around 1800, three of the five in the district were 
built by Rogers descendants (Inventory #s 20, 30, 91). Among them was Daniel Rogers, who was a cod fisherman, as 
were three of his relatives. In the first town assessment of 1809, they all were exempted from paying taxes because of 
their occupation. Such an unusual exemption may simply have been a pretext on the part of the town to avoid 
confrontation with a still-rebellious family.

While Baptist societies were established in Waterford in the early 1700s, the movement did not start in Quaker Hill until 
1835 when a group met at the old Quaker Hill schoolhouse. Plans were made for a church, the present Greek Revival 
edifice, which prior to 1944 was called the Second Baptist Church (Inventory #37). 2 The first pastor was a layman,

2 The Baptists in the western part of Waterford had organized in 1710. Previously they had to cross the river to attend services at the 
Groton Baptist Church, established in 1705. Stephen Gorton, son-in-law of James Rogers and a circuit preacher for the Waterford 
society by 1720, was ordained as their minister in 1726. A church was built by 1730, which was shared with Seventh-Day Baptists in 
the area.
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Elder Erastus Denison of the Groton Baptist Church, who continued to serve until 1850 when the first ordained minister 
was settled.

Typically the early waterpowered industry on Alewife Brook (Hunt's Brook) included the usual grist- and sawmill, and a 
fulling mill by 1807. A deed recorded that year transferring the 900-acre Alewife Brook farm (west of the district) to the 
Miller family noted these mills belonged to Stephen Miller & Son. Even discounting their mill property, which was not 
assessed in this period, the Millers were the wealthiest farmers in town. In the federal census of industry in 1820, only 
one industry was recorded in Waterford: Arthur Scholfield's woolen "manufactury" on Miller's Pond. Scholfield and his 
brother John, English immigrants from Yorkshire, are credited with the invention of the American carding machine. 
Like several later industrial entrepreneurs in Waterford, the Scholfields also developed water privileges on the Oxoboxo 
River in Montville.

The most enduring industrial enterprise in Quaker Hill was the manufacture of paper. It began in 1830 and grew rapidly 
after 1849 when the New London-Northern Railroad ran up through Quaker Hill alongside the Thames River, with a 
bridge over Smith Cove. With such ready access to markets, the paper industry flourished into the twentieth century. 
The first mill was started by a member of the Bolles family, Rogerenes in the 1700s, and operated under the name of 
Woodworm from 1840 to 1918. New dams were built on Hunt's Brook for several other paper mills in the mid-1800s, 
starting with one owned by John Robertson on the west side of Old Norwich Road. Robertson, one of the wealthiest 
industrialists in Waterford, with an estate valued in the federal census of 1870 at $45,000, chose a site west of the district 
for his new house, but James Moore, another paper mill owner, had a Gothic Revival cottage in the southern end of the 
district (Inventory #15). It was one of a half dozen houses built or enlarged in the village by 1900. Given the extent of 
the paper industry, it is somewhat surprising that there was no company-built workers' housing in Quaker Hill, a 
common practice elsewhere in Waterford, especially at the quarries. Census records confirm, however, that the paper 
mill operatives lived or boarded in nearby homes, possibly in the vernacular cottages built in this period (Inventory #s 32, 
39). Also, unlike the quarries that largely depended upon immigrant labor, the workforce in Quaker Hill was all native- 
born.

The early twentieth century saw a veritable building boom in Quaker Hill, largely due to an electric trolley line that ran 
up the east side of Old Norwich Road from about 1895 to 1924. All the typical styles of this period are represented as the 
district became a trolley-car suburb, and some homes near the line were electrified. Residents could commute to New 
London jobs and city dwellers soon used the trolley to come to Richard's Grove, a park on the Thames near the foot of 
the district. Frank Alexander, first selectman of Waterford, who built a house in the district (Inventory #85), owned a 
general store that once stood in the middle of the crossroads, the site of the present green (Inventory #7). Horse-drawn 
vehicles were still in use, however, as demonstrated by the blacksmith shop built about 1900 by a Mr. Glassbrenner, a 
German immigrant, who also built his house about that time (Inventory #s 38, 85). His shop, which was converted to a 
residence in 1936, was probably moved to its present location at the rear of the Baptist Church property. The shift to the 
automobile when trolley service ended is quite evident in the district. After World War I all new houses were built with 
detached garages; many were added to existing properties or located in former barns.

By 1917 the village had outgrown its one-room schoolhouse and a new Colonial Revival-style brick grammar school was 
erected on the hill overlooking Smith Cove (Inventory #18). The last historic civic building was the brick firehouse built 
just west of the main crossroads in 1927 (Inventory #9). Until the present post office was erected in 1961
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(Inventory #25), mail service was located in one of the village's general stores, the last being the c.1880 house with a 
storefront next to the firehouse (Inventory #8).

The district was completed after World War II. Although in Quaker Hill most postwar suburban development, small 
tracts with names such as "Thames View" or "Best View," was located between the river and the district at its southern 
end, there were a few new houses added to the Old Norwich Road streetscape. They include several at the entrance to a 
small but unique development on Rosemary Lane. It consists of a group of early Ranch houses influenced by the 
International style, which are arranged around a pond (Inventory #s 75, 75, 80, 104, 105, 106, 109). According to the 
1997 architectural survey of Waterford, the developer or contractor had been involved with Frank Lloyd Wright.

Architectural Significance
The collective architectural significance of the Quaker Hill Historic District is undeniable. While few houses are 
individually significant, together they represent an architectural continuum, one which reflects the history of the village. 
Generally well-preserved and maintained, the district streetscape displays exceptional variety of style and form, even in 
the early twentieth century when the majority of the houses were constructed. Many from that period are quite urban in 
character, especially the fine Queen Annes and Colonial Revivals which would be equally at home in the trolley-car 
neighborhoods of New London or New Haven. In fact, this urban overlay on what essentially is a rural village setting 
gives Quaker Hill a very special character. Instead of the uniform setback and rectangular street grids common to city 
neighborhoods, the rolling terrain of the district produces a variety of settings, in which each house can be more fully 
appreciated.

Some houses were built quite close to the road with fields stretching out behind, the siting of the very urban Glassbrenner 
House (Inventory #85; Photograph #16), but others, such as the Carpenter Gothic at 138 Old Norwich Road (Inventory 
#32; Photograph #9) overlook the road from the hillsides on the western side of the district. Two nearly identical Queen 
Annes illustrate how such different siting affects architectural character (Inventory #s 56, 62; Photograph #s 10, 11). 
Water views, such as the glimpses of Smith Cover between the houses along its shore, add another scenic component to 
the district. A more intimate rural atmosphere is created by the pond encircled by the houses on Rosemary Lane 
(Inventory #s 104, 105, 106, 107, 108).

Certainly the many periods, styles, and forms adds to the overall significance of the district. Houses built more than 
century apart stand as neighbors along upper Old Norwich Road. Such is the case with the Benjamin Green House, an 
1800 Colonial, which stands next to the sophisticated Frank Alexander House built in 1913 (Inventory #s 88, 83; 
Photograph #s 2, 15). In the southern reaches of the district, the low lying form of the Colonial Cape stands next to the 
more vertical massing of a Four-Square (Inventory #12, 13; Photograph # 3)) and they have a Gothic Revival cottage as a 
neighbor (Inventory #15; Photograph #7).

Several houses from different eras are notable for their design, materials, and/or exceptional level of preservation. The 
Christopher Green House with its unusual stone masonry also stands out as an example of Colonial Revival-style 
remodeling (Inventory #47; Photograph #1). The three-quarter Colonial design of the Red Lion Tavern is a fine 
illustration of a form once common in Waterford that is attributed to Baptist tradition (Inventory # 6; Photograph #4). 
Other important examples from the late nineteenth century include the well-preserved Gothic cottage at 199 Old Norwich 
Road (Inventory #95; Photograph #8) and the quite stylish Carpenter Gothic at 138 Old Norwich Road. This handsome 
house, which is fully elaborated with various bracketing and bargeboards, is further enhanced by its fully landscaped hill
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site (Inventory #32; Photograph #9). It is more difficult to single out a twentieth-century house since there are so may 
good examples from that period. However, the Glassbrenner House is especially noteworthy for its excellent state of 
preservation, level of style, and well-maintained historic setting (Inventory #85; Photograph #16).
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10. Geographical Data 

UTM References:

1. 18 741570 4588370
2. 18 741660 4588370
3. 18 741780 4587960
4. 18 741590 4587450
5. 18 741510 4587480
6. 18 741560 4586770
7. 18 741710 4586780
8. 18 741330 4587070
9. 18 741170 4587080

Verbal Boundary Description:

The boundaries are shown on the attached district map provided by the Town of Waterford.

Boundary Justification:

The boundaries were drawn to encompass the maximum number of contributing resources associated with the development of Quaker 
Hill during its period of significance. Residential subdivisions that postdate that period to the east and west are excluded. On the 
south the district ends just before a wooded section, where the road curves to the west and visual continuity is lost. The northern 
terminus is a physical barrier created by the intersection of Old Norwich Road with Mohegan Avenue, the highway that also forms 
part of the eastern border of the district.
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List of Photographs

Photographer: Cunningham Preservation Associates, LLC 

Negatives on File: Connecticut Historical Commission 

Date: 5/2001

1. Christopher Green House, 153 Old Norwich Road, camera facing E

2. Benjamin Green House, 193 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

3. John Burch House, 95 Old Norwich Road, camera facing E

4. Red Lion Tavern, 2 Old Colchester Road, camera facing SW

5. Quaker Hill Baptist Church, 144 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NW

6. 145 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

7. James Moore House, 97 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

8. 199 Old Norwich Road, camera facing SE

9. 138 Old Norwich Road, camera facing W

10. 161 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

11. 166 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NW

12. 209 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

13. 173 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

14. 91 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

15. Frank Alexander House, 185 Old Norwich Road, camera facing SE

16. Glassbrenner House, 188 Old Norwich Road, camera facing W

17. 119 Old Norwich Road, camera facing N

18. 120 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NW

19. 169 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NE

20. 154 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NW

21. 140 & 142 Old Norwich Road, camera facing N

22. 3 Northwood Road, camera facing N

23. Quaker Hill School, camera facing SW

24. 2 Richard's Grove Road, camera facing NE

25. 175 Old Norwich Road, camera facing E

26. 181 Old Norwich Road, camera facing NW
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